
Request for Proposals for Zero Waste Projects and Youth Education Program 
Questions and Answers (Updated 3/26/21) 

 
1. Is it just for San Francisco based organizations?  

No.  Applicants do not have to be based in the City and County of San Francisco; however, the 
proposed project must be focused on achieving zero waste goals for San Francisco.  

2.  In Attachments C and D, if we do not have a cash or in-kind match should we just put $0?  

 If there is no in-kind or cash match, you may leave the fields blank or input a $0. In-kind or cash match 
are not required, however, funding from other sources is viewed favorably. You can explain in the 
“narrative” field of the budget. It is better to give more explanation rather than less. 

3. On page 4 of the RFP, it says the “total compensation for the original period is not expected to 
exceed $1,060,000.” Does this mean one organization might get the entire amount of funding? 

The total amount available is approximately $1,060,000 and we do not expect to award more than that 
amount.  While it is possible one agency may be awarded the entire amount, historically the department 
has awarded 10-15 projects per Zero Waste grant cycle. Please note that the Youth Educational 
component will be awarded to one agency at approximately $10,000/year. 

4. Also on page 4 of the RFP, it looks like grants could be extended.  Can you say more about this? Is 
this for year two, or would they be extended beyond that?   

Zero Waste grants are generally for 2 years. In the event that the Department determines that a funded 
project timeline needs to be extended, the Department may elect to extend the grant up to 2 additional 
years. 

5. What does “Proposers may submit proposals with greater or lesser value, and cost and 
reasonableness of rates will be considered as part of the evaluation” mean? 

If the Department elects to extend the grant timeline in the future, proposers may submit a request for 
rate adjustments.   

6. Would you be interested in projects that use the arts to engage the community around the City’s 
Zero Waste goals? 

The Department would consider arts related projects, if the project can definitively measure the tonnage 
impact on San Francisco’s refuse stream. 

 
7. How do we measure tons recovered? 

Measure the baseline of material generated and/or landfilled,  and then calculate the percentage of 
potential reduction from that baseline. You may contact Recology (customerservice@recology.com) to 
get information on the service level at various locations in the residential and commercial sectors.   

For non-Recology related projects, weigh the material and estimate the reduction of weight that could be 
achieved (2000 lbs.= 1 ton) by month. 

8. When being evaluated, will the type of tons recovered be taken into account? 
Specific priority areas for zero waste funding includes: 

mailto:customerservice@recology.com


• Preventing food waste, with an emphasis on edible food recovery and distribution to San Franciscans in 
need. 

• Textile recovery and sorting for highest and best use along with job creation of San Franciscans. 

9. How do you measure waste “prevention” as opposed to recovery? 
You can assign a weight to the material avoided over a certain time frame and report on those tons. 

10.  Can we access generation studies and waste characterization studies for San Francisco?  
a. Characterization Study of Materials Handled by Recology 

b. Generation Study of all of San Francisco 

11. Is there anything that you don’t fund? 
We are not funding combustion vehicles or fuel costs, and we are not funding projects that replicate work 
the Department is already doing, such as in-school education projects. Check our website: 
https://sfenvironment.org/zero-waste 

https://sfenvironment.org/k-12 

12. How are the applications reviewed? 
The written portion of the application will be scored by a panel, (at least 2 internal and 1 external 
reviewer). Those scoring over 70 points will move onto the next phase.  

13. Is past performance on grants included in the scoring? 
Yes, it is included in the evaluation process in the qualifications and experience section. 

 
14. How does the invoice system work? 

Projects are funded on a cost-reimbursement basis. In certain unique circumstances, the Department, at its 
sole discretion, may allow advances or prepayments in order to meet a Grantee’s documented cash flow 
needs. Requests for advances will be granted on a case-by-case basis and are not intended to be a regular 
“automatic” procedure.  

15. Are there any geographic areas that the Department is focusing on? 
Projects must divert material from within the geographic boundaries of the City of San Francisco. All 
neighborhoods need to reduce their refuse; however, we are interested in projects that focus on underserved 
communities. 

16. What is allowable indirect costs? 
15% is the maximum allowed without further need for justification. Agencies needing to increase the indirect 
rate in their proposals to an amount exceeding 15% must include a justification. 

 
17. Who needs to sign application? 

The Executive Director, President of the Board of Directors, or an officially designated representative. 
 

18. Can we apply to do policy work? 
No. We are open to outreach and advocacy work relating to quantifiable recovery from refuse. 

 
19. If we already have a grant, can we apply for a new project or apply to for an existing project. 

Yes, but in order to be awarded your project must be in good standing and being implemented per your 
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existing workplan. The proposal should be very clear on how the project is expanding upon existing work. 
If you are awarded funding through this round, you may not be able to start accessing the new grant until 
you had satisfactorily completed the existing grant. An agency may be awarded both a Zero Waste and a 
Youth Educational Development grant. 

20. How many grants will you give out? 
For Zero Waste projects, we can’t say until we get proposals in and evaluate them.  Typically, we fund 
10-15 projects. For the Youth Educational Development project we are awarding one grant. 

21. If awarded, will we get the total funding we request in our proposals? 
We often do not fully fund grants at the submitted proposal amount. Initial awards are tentative pending 
negotiations in which the actual funding available to the proposed program will be negotiated and 
determined.  

 
22. What is the average grant size? 

We are unable to say until we receive proposals and evaluate them.  The smallest grants are $10,000. Grants 
typically do not exceed $100,000.  

 
23. Will you be funding new projects and organizations? 

Yes, if the proposals are competitive. We are very interested in new and innovative projects. 
 

24. Do you have something specific in mind for the Zero Waste funding from SF's perspective? 

Please review our priorities listed in the RFP. We were pretty broad about what we are looking for 
because we really want to encourage creativity and innovation.  We have funded pilot projects in the past 
to get programs up and running, or to create a market for a particular part of the waste stream. 

25. Where is this funding coming from? 
The funding comes from Refuse Rate revenue collected from SF resident and business ratepayers for 
recycling, composting and refuse collection services and processing. 

26. Are we being scored on how cost effective our project is? 

We do look at a cost benefit analysis (cost of project/tons diverted) but are not necessarily going for the 
most       cost-effective projects. 

27. When is the proposal due? 
April 16, 2021 5:00 p.m. 

28. For the Youth Educational Development grant, does the project site have to be in an Environmental 
Justice neighborhood? 
The project site must be within the geographic boundaries of the City of San Francisco, and ideally hire and 
serve youth from communities impacted by Environmental Justice. 

 
29. Do the education projects have to be outdoors or can we schedule presentations in a classroom or 

other community space?  
One of the goals of our Educational Program is to help youth develop a love of nature and become 
environmental stewards, so activities should be outdoors but could also include some indoor presentations 
in a classroom or other community space.  

30. Would a project to maintain and improve a community garden to use it as a teaching tool fit 



your goals for the  educational grant? 
The project needs to serve youth from several schools, so it depends on where the garden is, how 
accessible it is to schools and how it integrates environmental justice curriculum into activities. 

31. What kind of zero waste components need to be included in the educational programming? 
Whether it’s addressing the zero waste concepts of: reduce, reuse, recycle or compost, it’s important 
to make connections to zero waste through the hands-on activities. 

32. If we are applying for the education project do we have to recruit schools to participate? 
Yes, you will be expected to recruit schools to participate in your awarded program with the assistance and 
collaboration with the Department’s educational program staff. 

 
33. We have an idea for curriculum for the educational programming, but haven’t identified a space 

yet. Could  we still submit a proposal and find a site later? 
The project site must be identified in order to receive the award. We would not be inclined to fund a program 
if all of the components are not in place.  

 
34. Do we have to have an agreement in place with a site? 

As noted, we are not inclined to fund a program if all of the components are not in place. 
 

35. In the Narrative you say “Grant recipients are required to work with the Department to 
promote grant-funded activities and take advantage of shared outreach opportunities ”, what 
does that mean? 

We see our grantees as partners and want you to see us as an avenue to promote your work—we can tweet, 
post on our calendar, etc.  We want to amplify your message and your story. We want you to do the same for 
us (as appropriate). We require that you recognize us on your website, in materials, etc. 

36. In the workplan/budget, it says “As necessary, please allocate funds for participation in 
Department-sponsored activities” What does that mean? 

We have an annual grantee meeting you would attend. And, we may have opportunities to do shared 
outreach. We don’t want to ask you to participate in those activities without ensuring that your staff time is 
covered. 

37. Under Project Summary, you refer to "project partners." Does having a partner strengthen a 
proposal? Do you encourage collaboration? 

We love projects that involve collaboration, but it is not required. If you have a project that will be 
successful with no partners that’s fine. If your project does involve partners, we want to know that these 
partners have committed. Sometimes we get proposals saying things like “X, Y and Z might be good 
partners and we plan on approaching them.” A plan to find partners is probably not going to make as 
strong a proposal as a project that already has a commitment from partners. 

38. What is the difference between a goal and objective? 
The goal is a description of a destination. It is the purpose toward which an endeavor is directed. 

 
An Objective is a measure of the progress that is needed to get to the destination. You could use the 
SMART structure to articulate your objectives: 

S stands for specific, clear and focused so that there's no misinterpretation.  



M is measurable, they can be quantified and compared to other data. 
A is attainable, achievable, reasonable, and credible. 
R is realistic, it fits into the organization's constraints and is cost-effective.  

T is timely, it's doable within the time frame given. 
39. When would projects start? 

As soon as grant agreements are executed, but not before 7/1/21. Depending on how long it takes grantees 
to complete the paperwork required to become a Certified City Vendor, it can take 2-6 months after the 
award announcement for grant agreements to be executed before projects can start.  

40. In Attachment A: What is the Fiscal sponsor? 

In some cases, a proposer may want to use a fiscal sponsor. A fiscal sponsor operates as the direct 
administrator on behalf of the agency submitting a proposal. Fiscal sponsors allows various projects and 
programs to share a common administrative platform with a larger organization, thus increasing efficiency. 
In addition to legal status, fiscal sponsors can provide payroll, employee benefits, office space, publicity, 
fundraising assistance, and training services 

41. In Attachment C: The Work Plan has space to write details for Goals, Deliverables, and 
Responsible. Can we express the budget amount as a % to make It simple? 

While it is preferable to express the budget amount field in dollars, you may elect to use a % in respect 
to Personnel, Equipment/Supplies, Contractors, Others, & Indirect fields. However, please express the 
total in dollar format for each Quarter.  

42. In Attachment D: What is the meaning of Fringes %? 
Fringes refers to the fringe benefit rate for the personnel listed. Fringe benefits include, but are not limited 
to, the cost of leave, employee insurance, and unemployment benefit plans. Submissions should identify 
the applicant’s fringe benefit rate. The applicant should not combine the fringe benefit costs with direct 
salaries and/or wages in the personnel category. 

43. I have some questions regarding the vocabulary in Attachment D. Please define:  

1. “Cont.”: Subcontracted portions of the proposed budget. 

2. “Indirect”: Indirect costs represent the expenses of doing business that are not readily identified 
with a particular grant, contract, project function or activity, but are necessary for the general 
operation of the organization and the conduct of activities it performs. For simplicity we ask that 
this be expressed as an % rate of direct program expenses.  

3. “Justification”: A detailed description showing why a proposed item is reasonable. 

4. “Narrative”: The narrative is a specific description about your proposed project. Narratives 
should detail your organization’s infrastructure while highlighting your agency’s ability to 
execute the proposed project. 

5. “SFE”: San Francisco Department of the Environment 

6. “In-Kind Match”: In-kind match are non-cash donations of a good or service that can be given a 
value and is used in achieving your program objectives. 



 
44. Can you share the contact information for the key persons? 

From the date this Solicitation was issued until the date the competitive process of this Solicitation is 
completed (either by cancelation or final award), Proposers and their subcontractors, vendors, 
representatives and/or other parties under Proposer’s control, shall communicate solely with the Contract 
Administrator whose name appears in this Solicitation. David.Kashani@SFGOV.org 
 

45. Must the proposing agency be a supplier in the SF system? 
No, respondents do not need to be a current supplier in the City’s PeopleSoft system to submit a response. 
 

46. Are fiscally sponsored organizations eligible to apply?   
Yes. 
 

47. I am a subject matter expert in recycling, composting and solid waste management as well as an 
educator - and would like to connect with a 501(c)(3) prime. How do we connect with non-profit 
primes?  
We suggest networking and reaching out to local non-profits. You may look at previously awarded projects 
and partnership opportunities with them, please review our website: https://sfenvironment.org/zero-waste-
grants. Also, registered Bidders/Suppliers in the City’s system have the ability to advertise for partners on a 
solicitations. Please follow the link to the RFP on the City’s Partner Website and look for the “Find 
Partner” and/or “View Partner Requests”. For assistance with the City’s system or the supplier portal you 
may reach out to sfcitypartnersupport@sfgov.org or call user support at 415-944-2442 Monday-Friday 8:30 
AM- 5PM 

 
48. Would a zero emissions project fall under the Zero Carbon banner or would it be relevant to this 

grant as well? 
This is for Zero Waste projects; a San Francisco Carbon Fund solicitation may be released at a future date. 
 

49. The RFP states that only non-profit 501c3 organizations are eligible to apply, are public agencies 
precluded from this grant funding?  
The requirement has been amended to state “Nonprofit 501(c)(3) organizations or government agencies”. 
Generally speaking, nonprofit entities that serve the public interest or government agencies are eligible for 
funding through this solicitation. 

 
50. Can building a Native Plant Garden promoting carbon sequestration qualify for this grant? 

This is for Zero Waste projects; a San Francisco Carbon Fund solicitation may be released at a future date. 
 

51. We are planning to open an inclusive daycare for small children with and without disabilities and are 
currently working on developing the outdoor space for play and contact with nature. Would some 
component of this project potentially qualify?  
It sounds like the youth-nature connection that is required would be included in this daycare program. The 
program must also provide workforce development opportunities for youth. 

 
52. Can two nonprofits collaborate or can a private firm subcontract with the nonprofit? 

Yes, two agencies may collaborate. The prime must be a nonprofit organization or equivalent as noted in 
Q&A 49. 
 

53. If we were interested in doing education/training programs, how do we measure the cost per 
projected ton?  
The applicant can estimate refuse recovery impact from training and educational programs. First you would 
measure the baseline of material generated from trainees (composting, recycling, and landfill totals), and 
then calculate the percentage of potential reduction from the trainings (additional composting, recycling, 
reuse, or reduction) from that baseline. This would provide the applicant with a potential tonnage figure for 
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their proposal. You may contact Recology (customerservice@recology.com) to get information on the 
service levels at various locations in the residential and commercial sectors.    
 

54. Do we pick one of the 4 components of the Matrix?  
You may combine multiple components of the matrix or choose to address only one of the areas. 
 

55. Can a nonprofit applying also be a fiscal sponsor of another group that wants to apply? 
Yes, organizations can submit a proposal as a sole proposer and also submit an additional proposal where 
they are the fiscal sponsor.  
 

56. The City Partner site is a separate log in or account than City Supplier? 
The log in/account is the same. 
 

57. Do all project partners need to register as City vendors, or just the prime?  
Only the prime must be a certified supplier/vendor for a grant agreement to be executed. 
 

58. Will the grant awards be limited to a range of 10K to 100K/year? 
No, while $10,000 is the minimum, the upper end range is not set and will be determined through the 
evaluation of submissions received.  Grants typically do not exceed $100,000. 

 
59. Can we do a practice upload to the city partner site?   

Yes, you may follow tutorials listed on the Supplier Solutions Site: Supplier Job Aids, specifically you may 
review job aids under the category heading “Supplier: Viewing and Bidding on City Business”. For 
assistance with the City’s system or the supplier portal you may reach out to 
sfcitypartnersupport@sfgov.org or call user support at 415-944-2442 Monday-Friday 8:30 AM- 5PM 

 
60. Would Ocean Microplastics Education Program with sampling in the Bay be eligible?  

The project sounds eligible for funding as it aligns with our zero waste and environmental justice goals. It 
would be eligible as long as there is a youth workforce development & training component. 
 

61. Are we able to apply again for a project that was previously funded? 
Yes, previously funded projects are able to apply, however, the new proposal should expand upon the 
previously awarded project.  
 

62. Does "youth" include transitional aged youth (i.e. 18-25 years old)?  
Yes. 
 

63. Is there a length requirement or maximum?  
A 10-page limit (5 sheets-front and back, if applicable) applies to the narrative.  
 

64. If we need help with the City Partner Site, who can help us? 
For assistance with the City’s system or the supplier portal you may reach out to 
sfcitypartnersupport@sfgov.org or call user support at 415-944-2442 Monday-Friday 8:30 AM- 5PM 

 
65. Can you post a direct link to attachments C & D? 

Attachment C-Workplan 

Attachment D-Budget 

66. As part of the application, we are asked to include “cost per ton” estimate information- or amount of 
funding requested divided by proposed amount we hope to divert. What was the “cost per ton” range of 
previously funded projects?  
Zero Waste projects cost per ton vary, we have an ideal range around $300/ton, but understand that some 

https://sfcitypartnersupport.sfgov.org/support/solutions/11000049611
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projects may cost more or less to achieve.  There are other aspects that are taken into consideration other 
than the cost per ton when reviewing proposals.  
 

67. In Attachment A, Row B, it says 10 pages, 5 front-and-back. If we are emailing the application, do we 
disregard that? 
Correct, “5 sheets total-front and back” applies to hard copy submissions, not electronic. 
 

68. Do zoom meetings/ fliers/ services count as deliverables for Attachment C? 
Yes, these may be listed as part of the deliverables for your proposed workplan. 
 

69. Can you clarify whether we need to attach a current year agency total budget, with grant project included? It 
is listed as a requirement in the Cover page and Checklist in the RFP (page 7) but in the narrative on page 5, 
an agency budget is NOT listed as a requirement. 
Yes, please submit your agency’s budget with the grant project included. Page 5 refers to proposal elements. Page 7 
Item B notes the project’s budget. Page 7 Item F notes the agency’s budget.   
 

70. Can anyone apply for the two-year $20,000 grant or is the funding only going to be allocated to organizations 
who are part of the Zero Waste grant? 
There is no requirement to submit or be awarded a Zero Waste grant to be eligible for the Youth Education grant 
portion. Interested parties may submit a proposal for only the two-year Youth Education $20,000 grant. 
 

71. I was wondering what age limits should we consider for "youth" Workforce Development?  We have 
workforce development programs that include youth from middle schools all the way through Transitional 
Age Youth, which sometimes can be defined as under 35. We'd appreciate clarity on age limits for this RFP.   
For this RFP “youth" include transitional aged youth aged 18-25 years old. 
 

72. We were not able to join the webinar March 17th, is there a recording of the webinar available for viewing? 
No, the conference was not recorded. 
 

73. In the Zero Waste Matrix under restrictions, it says to quantifiably describe the waste prevention. Since a 
large part of this education, training program would be to educate, how would you suggest that this is 
addressed in the proposal?   
The applicant can estimate refuse recovery impact from training and educational programs. First you would 
measure the baseline of material generated from trainees (composting, recycling, and landfill totals), and 
then calculate the percentage of potential reduction from the trainings (additional composting, recycling, 
reuse, or reduction) from that baseline. This would provide the applicant with a potential tonnage figure for 
their proposal. You may contact Recology (customerservice@recology.com) to get information on the 
service levels at various locations in the residential and commercial sectors.    
 

74. It says the audience could be non-English speakers. Does this mean that we would be translating the 
educational materials into other languages? Or, does this refer to English language learners?  
If your proposed project involves outreach to non-English speakers, your materials must be translated to 
your targeted population’s language. 
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